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WEE: Andrew J. Goodpaster (General) 

INTERVIEWER: JRe B. Frantz 

DATE June 21, 1971 

F: This is an interview with General Andrew J. Goodpaster, in his office  

i n the Pentagon, in Washington, D.C., em June 21, 1971. The inter-

 viewer is Joe B. Frantz. 

Just to start, General, lets talk very briefly about when you 

first met, , guess, Senator Johnson. 

G:         <eV� it was Senator Johnson, and it was during the Eisenhower Adminis-

tration. I joined President Eisenhower in the White House aV staff 

Secretar y and Defense Liason Officer in October of 1954, and stayed 

with him through the remainder of his term. 

F : As you know, Senator Johnson and Speaker Rayburn "er~ loak~d upon in 

one sense aV a strong right arm of President Eisenhower, and sometimes 

it was thought that he got more support from them than he did from 

his own party. Do you have any observations on this? 

G: As just a general comment on the question in this particular area I 

have to say that the relation. of President Eiaenhower with the Con-

gress, although I saw a good deal of them in one capacity or another, 

that wa. not my field of responsibility, and I don't think I can apeak 

authoritatively in that area. Member. of Prelident Ei.enhower's legis-

lative staff--General Persons or Bryce Harlow--could certainly speak Rarl~--could 

to that with a great deal more validity. mor~  

I did know President Eisenhower's general attitude on this matter, kno~  

and that is that despite the fact that the government was divided  

through three-fourths af hia term of office- - that is , the control of 

the Congress was held by the other party--he felt that the requirement re~uirenent 
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that the natton be governed and the people be served was overriding 

and that it was simply necessary to harroner out the widest area of 

agreement that he could. ln that process of course Senator Johnson 

in the Senate and Speaker Rayburn in the House had the most influential, 

the most responsible roles. 

F: Did you ever hear President Eisenhower speak of his opinion of 

Senator Johnson? 

G: Yes, on specific items. One point t hat I thought I would mention to 

you which I had occasion to speak to President Johnson about some 

years later was that President Eisenhower held the view and indicated 

that he had in fact mentioned to Senator Johnson a couple of times 

that Senator Johnson should be careful about any actions that would 

circumscribe or limit or damage or reduce the powers of the President 

because as he had told Senator Johnson, "It• s easily possible that you 

may be sit ting in this chair sometime yourself." And in fact he had 

indicated that in one way or another, he regarded the likelihood as 

quite high that at some time Senator Johnson would be in that position, 

and that was even true after Senator Johnson's heart attack in 1956. 

F: You bring up the heart attack. Of course, President Eisenhower had 

his heart attack and his ileitis. What happened to the running of the 

Administration during that period insofar as relations with Congress 

were concerned? Did that damage t hem or did you have to do any sort 

of jackleg rearrangement? 

C: Again, that came within the area of direct responsibility of General 

Persons, Bryce Harlow, and others of the legislative staff. Of course, 

what we undertook to do very quickly was organize tbe work so chat the 

President would simply be involved in the decision process itself and 

the labor of reading voluminous reports, of analyzing the issues, that 
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abor would be perforned outside of his presence so that he could 

cons ider simply the gist of the matters that required his urgent con-  

sideration in as e f ficient a way as possible. There were items that 

could be deferred in con.ideration, although the pr inciple that he 

fol l owed fr~ the outlet WI, chat if he wI. un,bt, to perform the 

dutt •• of the Job, he would .t.p .,Ide and let .o~body el •• perform 

it. 

, 

But we were able to find the •• .eanl by which t he conduct of the 

Pre.idloCY could 10 forward. By chanel, II you know, hi' heart 

attlck occurred in lace Sep telOber , and that "",.nt t hlt the de.-nd, fo r 

congeal.lonll 11,I'on were really It I tow point at that tl1111!. 

r: When Senator Johnlon had hil hear t Itt'CIt, did that ~ke any difference 

in the Whit' "OUI. contlctl with the Sen.te? 

C: 1 'II not able to nlpond t o that. 1 know the Preltdftnt .... deeply Con-

~arned .bout lt but what, ln Iny .paciflc .. ay, .... done to modify thft 

conduct of affalrl over wha t they m18ht otherwl.e hive been , ['m no t 

.bll to .ay. 

F: You'". h.d thft unu.u.l e >< p<!rience of .ervlns .t or nelr the t op of 

four varyln8 1~lnlltr.tlon.- -and I .. on't •• k you about the currant one- -

bu t from El •• nhover th r ou8h Klnnedy .nd John.on , w •• therl much dlffer-

anta 1n the rllatlonl wi th Conare •• vl.-a-vl. what .... 801n8 on? You 

h.d the problem' of Metlu and Quemoy for lnlt.nca , the probleml even 

then of Viat Ham under Ellftnhower , .nd thol. ca rtl lnly continued. Wh.t 

.... the difference 1n .pproach amons thl three Pre.ldentl? 

C: Le t ~ Ju.e •• y wh.t El.enhower' •• ppr olch w.' •• manlfe.ted on 

I,veral occ •• lon. whan major l •• ue. wera pre.antad. He would ha .... a 

very thorough_going .naly.il of t he pr oblem, t.lk i t throush With , •• 

hI ell led it , his lIeutenant., hll pr lnctpal offlcar. of gover nment, 

l 

.1~ply ~tte,. 
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normally on the basis of a paper and analysis prepared either by the 

Security Council machinery or by the Secretary of State. This would 

be talked through, sometimes in a preparatory way. If it were somethlng 

involving a co0111itment of the United States he would then want to get-­

in the international field--he would want to get what he called the 

leadership of both sides of both houses of Congress down to consider 

this thing with him. And that came up on a number of occasions. For 

example, the Suez affair; the Hungary situation; I'm sure on Quemoy­

Matsu and the Formosa problem; that kind of thing; the Lebanon affair. 

He went through all of that because he had a feeling going back to the 

Korean experience that the Congress not only should be given the 

opportunity but should be held to a heavy participating role from the 

outset in these very difficult-­

F: It should be involved just in a sense to muffle it- -maybe "muffle" is 

too strong a word! 

G: Re was very insistent that they should share the responsibility from 

the standpoint of their responsibilities under the Constitution. 

F: There is no critic like the one who wasn 1 t involved. 

G: Exactly so. 

F: What about Presidents Kennedy and Johnson in this respect. 

G: I really did not see very much of President Kennedy's mode of opera­

tion. I was with him for only two months at the beginnning of his 

term and then when I returned from Europe in October of 1962, I was 

here in the Pentagon and did not have contact with his operation in 

this particular phase. 

F: You had missed the really big problem of the Say of Pigs? 

G: I was away during the Bay of Pigs, and I came back just as the Cuban 

Missile Crisis .,as coming to a close. 
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Now, with regard co President Johnson, all I can say there is that 

I know that at key times during the development of the Viet Nam sltua­

tion, for example--and here I'm just speaking from memory--and also in 

the development of the Dominican problem, he either had the congressional 

leadership come to sit with him and consider the matter or he had 

them briefed hy adminiscracion spokesmen at each critical stage of this 

development. 

f: Without getting i nto personalities, and relying to a certain extent on 

the news •tories, have you perceived a change in t he people who came 

from Congress to participate in those sessions and some of their 

public staten~nts? 

G: I would here be talking about the Eisenhower Administration because 

that's the only one I really saw first-hand . 

Oftentimes they would be very guarded in what they had to say at 

the end of the President's discussion. And there was a little bit, you 

might even call it gamemanship, of saying, "We11, Mr. President, it 's 

your responsibility. We appreciate very much having this information 

of what you plan to do." And the President, on his side, making it 

clear that he felt they shared some responsibility in the matter. But 

with that preamble, I would have to say that instances do not come to 

mind of such a shift of position in connection with the Eisenhower 

experience in the Administration. 

F: On the domestic scene, did you get the feeling during the Eisenhower 

Administration that there wasn't much ideological, philosophical, or 

political difference between the Senate leadership and the presidency? 

G: [ would say there was a large common element of view. There were 

differences, of course, of who is the more conservative--and more 

conservative on particular issues. But t here was a broad element of 
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common view and, I'm sure, corrrnitment--and this was a voiced cormnitrnent 

to what is best for the United States. Of course there were differences, 

as you can imagine. But in areas for example--about the only one that 

I can really recall--was one like civil rights. And there there was 

great effort to try to find out something that could command enough 

support to get through over the objection of some people who took a 

very adamant stand against any movement Ln that period. 

F: Were you privy to the developing cooperation between what became the 

Senate Minority Leader Dirksen and Senate Majority Leader .Johnson after 

Bill Knowland left? 

C: No, I was not in those specific terms. 1 j ust knew of the efforts 

made by the Republican leadership which met more frequently with the 

President, of course, to see how much of an area of agreement could be 

worked out with the Democrat ic leadership . My own impression was t hat 

both Senator Dirksen and Congressman Halleck were very practical minded 

roen who were looking to find some basis for agreement and constructive 

action in the direction the President had in mind. 

F: In these days did you get to know Senator Johnson socially or was it 

pretty much a correct, administrative sort of thing? 

G: I think r only met him, and then very briefly, in connnection with his 

visits to the White House for matters of this kind. I don't believe I 

bad met him socially at all. 1 learned from him in later years that even 

c.!len President Eisenhower had described to him some of the functions 

that 1 performed in my work as Staff Secretary and Defense Liaison 

Officer there. 

F: Did you see enough of him to get an idea of his general grasp of the 

necessities and realities of the politics of the late 1950' s? 

G: Ob yes--and the depth and the detail and the precision of his understanding 
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not only of the substance, content, of issues but the posltlons that 

would be taken on those Issues by people ln the Congress. Well, he 

wasn't a computer type, ~ut you could say that he was a walking CO!!lputer 

of lnformation on Issues anu indlvlduals and the possible breadth of 

consensus that could be found on any issue. 

I.': Dld you get the feeling then or lacer chat he had more or len an 

equtva lent high regard for President Eisenhower's grasp? 

C: l think he did, yes. And I think they talked--! know thnt they 

talked privately many times, And I know that he had then, as I would 

discern Lt through President Eisenhower and later through what he hlmself 

said co me on occasions, he had a trc::iendous respect 'or 0 resldent 

Eisenhower's grasp of issues, particularly in the international field. 

But J.n terms of basic acttvlties and efforts in behalf of the United 

States, lts social progress and so on and social fairness in the United 

States, he had high regard for Presldent Eisenhower's grasp and effort 

in that direction as well. 

F: Did you get the feeling that President Eisenhower looked on Johnson as 

his advantage being li~ited to the domestic scene, or did you think he 

thought he brought some strength to foreign affairs also? 

G: Oh, to foreign affairs aleo. Particularly defense affairs. I mlght 

just mention in passing one little area, a very sharp dlvcrBCnce 

associated with an individual, a very able man who became the Chief of 

the U.S. Information Agency, Arthur Larson, Larson had done some work 

in political philosophy, and particularly in the philosophy ot political 

parties of che United State•, and had written some fairly caustic 

things which •?peared on the public scene. He then went down to seek 

his budget for the USlA and Lhcn-Senator Johnson carved it up pretty 

aggressively, as much l think to provide a lesson to the Admlntstrntioa 
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that there were bounds beyond which it should not go in carrying out 

partisan conflLct as for any other purpose. But ln the field of 

defense affairs, as t recall, he took on this work of the Preparedness 

Subcoll'lllittee at a later time and was active in that field. 

F: You came in just at the time that Senator McCarathy was working over 

the Army and particularly Secretary Stevens. Did you ever see any 

evidence of Mr. Johnson's participation in this or any dissatisfaction 

on the President's part of Mr. Johnson's lack of participation? 

G: No, I have no knowledge of a nything on this particular issue affecting 

the Congress. It was shortly after I came in that that issue began to 

be resolved. 

F: Right. Did you see any evidence of the President taking Senator John­

son into his confidence on matters like I ndochina and the Pescadores, 

Formosa, Cuba? 

G: Through the device that I mentioned, the meeting with the legislative 

leaders on both sides and here I can only be a little tentative in 

responding. In close personal discussions that they had I'm personally 

persuaded, I'm confident that President Eisenhower did discuss these 

matters of rather acute importance with the then-Majority Leader. 

F: What about the later affairs like the Lebanon landings and the Suez 

crisis? 

G: On those I'm quite confident that they had a large measure of under­

standing . Of course, that could have come from the n~etings with the 

legislative leadership, but it could also reflect these direct contacts . 

But I know that there was a large measure of mutual understanding as to 

what the President's line of action and the President's views were. 

F: You were present at the time of the launching of Sputnik. What was the 

climate around the White House when you received the news of that? Did 

you get slipped up on some way? 
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G: The popular reaccion to this, although foreseen and anticipated in 

what I would call just an intellectual sense, had much more emotional 

impact and was more powerful I would say than had really been appreciated 

in advance. President Eisenhower and members of his staff, felt that 

the popular reaction to this was exaggerated, particularly in such things 

as implying that this meant that we were defense less, that this meant 

that somehow we were inferior on the military side, and so on--and some 

degree of surprise that the emotional surge here would be so great as 

to bring those things into question. And, as you know, in the 

Congress there was a great response co this and it became quite a popu­

lar thing and a very fashionable item fot political activity at t he 

time. 

F: Was there a fee ling with President Eisenhower and his associates that 

in a sense Senator Johnson was just grabbing onto a noncontroversial 

issue, like Mother, and running with it? 

G: Oh, I think there was some feeling that within the Congress and Senator 

Johnson, as chairman of the co11111ittee dealing with this, that they 

were making hay while the opportunity was there. 

F: I remember a Herblock cartoon a little later that showed the Democratic 

candidates that were lining up in 1960. It showed Kennedy embracing 

something on lalx>r and Symington something on Alr Force budgets and 

then out here was Lyndon Johnson on the Space Col1Tllittee on which t here 

is no way to be controversial. Actually, ! don't know whether it was 

luck or foresight, but it worked out quite well for him. 

Did you ever have any opportunity to observe the Vice President's 

relationship with the Senate Majoriey Leader at this time? 

G: No, I did not. I saw a good deal of the Vice President, but it was 

either in the Security Council meetings, Cahinet meetings, or other 
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important meetings in the White House which he regularly attended. 

During the illnesses of the President, I frequently briefed the Vice 

President to put before him the kind of thing that I normally would 

be putting before the President­ -and did put before the President as 

well during his illnesses. 

But I saw nothing of the relationship between the Vice President 

and the Congressional leadership. 

F: Not to put you on an immodest spot, but weren ' t you during this 

period the man who did basically the briefing of the President and 

then during the illnesses the Vice President? 

G: Yes, that was one of my duties--to conduct the briefings on all matters 

of intelligence and mi l itary activities and operations, plus any activ­

ities in the foreign affairs field that were not dealt with either by 

the Secretary of State or the Undersecretar y of State directly. That 

was my area of staff responsibility in the 1'1\ite House. 

F: I'm sure that you've been t hrough enough crises that at times you must 

have trouble separating them, but one of the recurring Cyprus crises 

came during this period in 1956. And then, of course, you had the 

Hungaria11 uprising. Did the--more than just informational--did the 

President feel called upon to work with the Congress on this? 

C: On the Cyprus, my memory just doesn't serve me enough to pull back 

the details. On the Hungary affair and on the Suez affair, very 

definitely, because these were major problems that engaged the 

President and which he felt he must engage the Congress as wel1. 

F: One result of Ei•enhower's heart attack and subsequent illness was 

even deeper concern for the presidential succession, which of course 

would involve Congress. Were you privy co any of these discussions 

between the Administration and Congress? 
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G: I knew of the arrangement: that President Eisenhower made with Mr. Nixon, 

which t might say I knew also had been thoroughly discussed with the 

Congressional leadership. The President felt that he was acting within 

his powers to put into effect the arrangement that he did, author izing 

the Vice President to initiate c:he performance of c:he duties of the 

President in che event of the incapacity of the President. And it was 

my understanding that it had been privately discussed with the senior 

leadership of the Congress. 

F: Sort of an informal agreement as to what the procedure should be and 

then just a matter of working out Congress' consent. 

G: That was my understand'Lng, yes. 

F: In this matter of politics, of course 1956 was an election year and 

Texas, despite Mr. Johnson and Mr. Rayburn, held firm for President 

Eisenhower, Did you ever get any feeling of how the President--! 

real i ze politics is not your pr ime consideration in this--but any 

feeling for how the President felt about Texas and the twin obstacles 

with Johnson and Rayburn down there, or did he feel they really weren't 

going to give him much of a problem? 

G: I really don't have anything that I could report on that. That was 

wholly outside of my field and the President's contacts on that were 

largely outside the l.ihite House staff itself. 

F: Did you get any insights into the replacement of Senator Green on the 

Senate Foreign Relations Co1l1l\lttee by Senator Fulbright? 

G: No. 

F: This was strictly Mr. Johnson and the Democratic Party workings and 

not-­

G: So far as I know. 

F: Tt didn't reach the White House level as far as you know? 

 
LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

 
More on LBJ Library oral histories: 

http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

11



12 

G: lt did not come to my knowledge. 

F : Did you ever have any opportunity to watch the Senator work with either 

Secretary Dulles or Herter? 

C: Senator Johnson you're speaking of1 

F: Yes. 

G: No, I have nothing direct on that that I could offer. 

r: As far as the press was concerned, Senator Johnson did not show 

his hand in the Little Rock crisis, Can you elaborate on t hat or is 

that about the way you know it? 

G: l think the President did that very 111\lch on hi.sown, worki ng with his 

Attorney General and in the White House with his special counsel. 

F: On t hat problem of the U-2 and the Geneva Sumnit, did the President 

feel that the Democratic party was making undue political hay out of 

it? 

G: He really did11 1 t address it to the Democratic party. In a matter of 

foreign affairs that wouldn 1 t be his style. I think he felt: that he 

did not get much help from the Senate, There were several leading 

Senators whose interventions were, in his judgment, far f rom helpful 

in terms of our country 1 s needs at that time. He received a message, 

as I recall, from Senator Johnson expressing a concern in the Senate 

while he was still over there in Paris at a very critical time in the 

negotiations. But he felt--I think he was rather disappointed that 

the reaction of both the more vocal elements of the press and the more 

vocal elements of the Senate did not seem to concern themselves so 

much with where the i nterest of the United States would lie as that th i s 

provided a wonderful opportunity for them to attack the President. 

And he, of course, bad no choice but to take that kind of attack and 

go forward, try to handle the situation as best he could. I think he 
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fell the furor to •~hich the3c iitterventions contributed n.'ly well 

have resulted in the Soviets taking a harsher line than night other­

wise have been the case, hecause they felt that they had sort of been 

able to bring some blood-­

F: They could sense a sU ght moral advantage here. 

G: A rnctical advnntag., in tryln!I to put pressur<:>. on the !'resident 

.1.ul to Jamage his standing. 

l': Durlng the campaign of 1960, of course, the Presidential candidate 

Kennedy and Vice Presidential candidate Johnson made a great deal of 

the missile gap. Was it a serlous issue and if it were--you know 

we've argued since whether le was--why didn't Mr. Nixon really go 

after the Democrats on that? 

G: I can't speak for Mr. Nixon on th1.s, but I do recall that Presi.dent 

Eisenhower in his final public statement in a passage whlch r had 

discussed with him and worked on with him, said that the bomber gap 

was always a fiction and the missile gap shows every slgn of being 

the sane. It was well known to us wlthin the aovernment that the 

only way you could talk about missile gap was by according a progrdrn o' 

increase to the Soviets ot which we had no indication. 1'hil point was 

known to many of those who were trumpeting the existence of n missile 

gap. se that it was in my judgment a spurious issue. r think there rs 

i;ruund to believe ~hat 11 t lc"lS t aome of the people invo 1vcd i.n lt 

knew that it was highly questionable, had information that would cer­

tal.r.l)' tend to irlc.icate to theJo that l.t was highly questicm,1ble­

F: Cood politics as long as it didn't blow up ln their face. 

C: It was an issue that had attracted a good deal of public attention so 

that it was something that they could exploit. 

r: Now, looking ahead, you've got this matter of the missiles, you've got 
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the tCllM, and of course now you've just gone through a sesslon in 

Congress which has a 9trong urge on the part ol some people to clear 

out of Europe or co reduce essentially our bases overseas and so on. 

Does the presence ot the ICBM and the m.ssile--or dld the presence of 

those measures reduce in a sense our need for troop comnitments over­

seas? In other words, what I'm trying to ~et al, not very well, is the 

fact that does this affect our setting limetables in our general troop 

consideration? 

G: 	 I probabl~ ought to refer to chat in the terms in which it presented 

itself during the Eisenhower Administration and then durinfl lacer 

adminlstrattons. 

During the Eisenhower Administration there was heavy emphasis 

on--to use the exact terms--a capacity tor n.assive r,,taliation in 

order to dissuade as a political pressure, a device to dissuade 

forelgn powers from taking aggressive action. As the other side 

began to enlarge lts nuclear power, and particularly its deliverable 

nuclear power-· that is the ICBM'• and so on-· that factor then no longer 

could carry the we1.ght it had at an ear Her ti.me. And even as early as 

January of 1957, discussions between Mr. Dulles and President Eiseohower 

rcs11lt1<d in ~IT . Dul Les polntinf; out publicly tilat a shift '"us occurring 

in which t:he major area of concern co the United Scates was becoming 

the so-called "third world" and a shift away Crom the policy of massive 

retaliation. This really foretold, I think, t.1e later shift to t.11' 

incrc•ased umphasia Oil COt'IVt:l'ltiOll.:11 fOl"CtlS th~t came .lbOut S0'1eWhllt during 

the Kennedy Adminl1tration, but particularly during the Johnson Admtn­

lscracion. 

F: 	 Did you get any reaction--this ls more ELsenhower than Johnson, and 

yec Johnson's always been so strong lo Latin Ar.\erica--did you get any 
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insight into President Eisenhower's reaction to the trip that Vice 

President Nixon cook to South Amerl ca Ln 1958 that had the students 

spitting on him and general demonstrations? 

G: Yea indeed. I was there, of course, in the White House at that time 

and thls was a matter of great deep concern. There was later some 

crt~Lcism over the action that we took to move forces .forward so ch.it if Lt 

had been necessary we could actually have intervened in the Vice Presi­

dent' a behalf. But these vere preparatory steps that would siu:ply cut 

down the response time-­

F: You put a stand-by group in Puerto Rico, didn't you? 

C: We ooved thea forward--a.s I recall it was Puerto Rico, perhaps Panama 

as well. 3ut in any case those were the actions that were taken, a~d 

chey ware macters of very deep concern to us at the time. 

F: Did you have any me1110ry of whether Senator Johnson contacted the 

President on chis? 

G: I did not. But my--this would be just a deduction frOlll the manner in 

which we had habitually operated--that would be a matter on whlch the 

President would immediately be i.n contact with members of the Congress 

because there was the possibility of having to go to the aid of cho 

Vice President in acne way. 

F: You wll1 probably l1ave the same answer to the enlargemeot of F'ldet 

Castro's activities in Cuba--as far as the reaction of the White House 

and lts relationships w•th the Senate majority leadership at thls 

time. 

G: Th ls n~ver presented lcsclf, as r recall, in any unique or single 

crisis form. It was more a gradual development, son~what ambiguous, 

which later becane clarified as ~ein~ worse than some people bad 

antlclpatcd or cried to describe lt. I'm sure that le came up ln 

 
LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

 
More on LBJ Library oral histories: 

http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

15



16 

periodic sessions, just reviewing the broad world situation, the kind 

of thing Mr. Dulles would sometimes do with the senior leadership of 

the Congress at the White House in the presence of the l'resident. But 

I don't recall any specific session on that. 

F: In this period you had the unsuccessful nomination of Admiral Lewis 

Strauss, Secretary of Commerce. Did, as far as you know, Senator 

Johnson tip his hand on this and incur the President's wrath? 

G: I don't recall anything specifically relating to Senator Johnson. 1 

do recall the President was intensely disappointed at the performance 

of the Senate in this matter and had hoped for, not only for more 

support but had hoped for a different line of action because he felt 

that this action was completely without justification insofar as Lewis 

Strauss was concerned. 

F: In 1960 one of the French journals, Humanice stated that you had 

stated that a French army group was going to assassinate Khrushchev 

and Eisenhower during the French visit. I never have been able to 

find that there is any basis to this, but did you say it? 

G: I never said anything like that. I didn't know that Humani te had made 

that statement. 

!'": It's a total fairy tale? 

G: It's a total fabrication insofar as l'm aware, both from the stand­

point of my having said it, and from the standpoint of my having any 

information to that effect. 

F: What do you think they were trying to do, just get a little something 

stirred up? But if you don't know it, you don't know what's behind it, 

do you? 

G: r never heard of that until this moment. 

F: It's back there somewhere. 
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G: But I haven't felt the loss. 

F: Did President Eisenhower confer with the Senate over his original plans 

to visit Japan and his withdrawal of those plans when the Japanese 

feared that it might not be safe? 

G: No, that decision came while the President was out in the Philippines 

on this trip to the Far East, and-­

F: It was an Executive decision? 

G: It was his decision. I think we immediately passed the word back to 

the White House as to what that decision had been based on and what 

the revised trip would include. 

F: Where were you during the tirne that the--when you talk about crises 

you don't have to identify which one, but the one that led to the 

Berlin Wa11? 

G: That's on August 13, 1961 . 

F : Right . 

G: At that time I was in Europe. I had gone to be the Assistant Division 

Commander of the 3rd Division and had just received word that I would 

be moving to assume command of the 8th Division which was the unit 

that sent the battle group to Berlin. But at the time it occurred I 

had not gone to the 8th Division; I was still with the 3rd Division in 

Europe. 

F: Did you see any signs at all of LBJ's hand in this as Vi.ce President? 

C: I only knew of his visit there which had a tremendous ly powerful 

impact. 

F: Were you involved in planning for the visit? 

G: Not at all. 

F: No participation in it after he got there? 

G: None at all. 
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F: Now where did you pick up your reaction to it? 

G: Through the general press coverage ln Europe and also through the 

reports that l tater had of Ill)' own unit of the 8th Oivtsion, after I 

got to the Bth ~ivision, as to how they had been welcomed on their 

nrrivat by President Johnson. 

F: The Jeeling in mili.tacy cJ rclcs was that this was a good move, then. 

C: A very effective move. And lt had a tremendously stiffening affect 

on the morale and confidence within Berlin and within Europc--Get'lllany 

and Europe at large. 

f: This is jumping ahead. One question to bridge the gap. You are gone 

during part of this, but did you get much opportunity to obaerve the 

LBJ-JFK relationship? 

G: I had no real observation of that. The few times that 1 wen t to the 

White Rouse after I came back during President Kennedy's tenure I had 

no real opportunity to discern what t hat relationship might be. l think 

perhaps the Vice President was present at one or two ot thoae aesatons, 

but : do not recall anything Illuminating that relationahlp. 

F: What about the 3ay of Pigs problem? 

C: 1 was away. I had left-­

F: So whatever you got was second or third hand. 

<.;: Yes , I ' d left in late March before that occurred. 

f: And the missile crisis? 

C: I C8lllC back just-­

f: just as it broke? 

C: Just at the close of lt--and 11ot the afcernath of lt. 

P: There ' s no showing of the Vice President's hand in this? 

C: No, none of which I'm aware . 

f: Whei·e were you at the tLme of the assassination down In Dal las? 
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C: 1 was right here in the Pentagon, attending a meeting of the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff. 

F: Tell me briefly about that, what it was like. 

G: Well, we had a German party visiting us on that day; the head of the 

German Armed Forces was meeting 1'ith the Chiefs of Staff. We had 

scheduled a meeting at about 2:00 in the afternoon. As 1 recall about 

12:30, or maybe a little later than that, maybe as late as 1:30, we got 

1'ord that the President had been shot. We ill'G11ediately checked to find 

out where the Vice President was and whether he was safe and had word 

back that he seemed to be. 

F: I presume that you were as much mystified as anyone else as to whether 

this 1'as an isolated incident or was part of a massive plot? 

G: The first question you ' d have to ask yourself is, "What does this 

mean? What about the next man on the list?" and so on. We asked and 

found that he 1'as apparently all right . We then waited for informa­

tion. It was obvious that information was being very much controlled 

and that the President's situation 1'as very, very serious because he 

had been taken to the hospital and so on. We then went ahead with out­ · 

began our meeting at 2:00 o'clock, and within a minute or two after that 

we had word brought in that President Kennedy was dead. General Taylor,
• 

who of course, was devoted to President Kennedy, 1'as Chairman. He 

announced to our German colleagues that he had had this word--we had 

told chem earlier that we had had word that the President was shot. As 

I recall we had only a very brief discussion then and illltlediately were 

concerned to learn what further steps 1'ere being taken and so on. 

F: You didn't try to continue the meeting, then? 

G: 1 thi.nk we wound up our meeting very quickly. 

F: As you know, it's awfully easy once an event is over to start rationalizing, 
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but at the time was there a consensus airong the people at your level 

in the Pentagon that the new President did belong on his way back to 

Washington? 

G: Oh yes, by all means, and-­

F: Get aboard and get back here~ 

G: Yes, indeed, and take control of the processes of government. I'll 

have to say the way in which he did that, the compassion that he showed 

and the seriousness and yet the strength, was a matter of tremendous 

admiration for all of us over here during the succeeding days. 

F: One of the whirlwinds that he inherited from the previous year was 

this young MLF proposal that the Russians were upset about. Did you 

get any opportunity to observe the new President on this issue? 

G: I was involved in that insofar as the operations of the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff were concerned. Over the succeeding months my information on 

this is second-hand. I can only say that I sensed that he was not 

convinced of the viability of the project and retained really a lot of 

questions in his mind about it, was not prepared to make any kind of 

an iron-clad cotm1itment . I don't think he was negative on it as much 

as just unconvinced; and he was prepared to take steps to explore it, 

to test its feasibility, and so on. But that would be about the 

attitude I sensed as new proposals or revised proposals were sent up 

to him. 

F: Did you have to do a lot of briefing or did the Pentagon generally 

have to do a lot of briefing on the new President, or was he pretty 

well up-to-date on issues? Of course, I realize that you've got your 

daily briefings as things break, but l mean a mattet· of closing a gap. 

G: He met with the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and with the 

civilian leadership of the Department and I think got his up- dating tn 
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that way. Then of course he had on his staff people who performed the 

saric function that I perfotT'led pretty much during the Eisenhower 

period. So he had had a flow ~f naterial, and of course he had had 

brlefings and was farciliar with the operations to a very considerable 

extent before hand. 

F': VO\l had the fee Hng, I gather, thnt Ln foreign affairs generally 

and ln military affairs specifically there was no sort of a volley you 

had to go through before you picked up the sort of plateau of leader­

ship again? 

G: No, from where t sat certainly rny feeling was that he was well read 

on the problem. I recall what we had heard from Mr. Truman of what 

an experience that Lt is to have thaL whole burden on you so suddenly. 

F: There's a difference between bclng first and second. 

r.: Then [ recall some of tl1c apparent impact of this on Mr. Kennady when 

he took over the responsibility from General Eisenhower. It was one 

thing to be running for offlce, and it was something else having won 

Lt, now to face the heavy responsibilitLeS that he would have. And 

of course this fell without notice on Mr. Johnson. But we had no sense 

of any failure to shoulder the responsibilities and l!lo)ve rtght forward 

with them. 

r: Right after Johnson became President, there was--I don't wnnt to 

embarrass you, t>ut l.t may be political-- there was some oppos l t ion by 

at least a couple of Senators to your proraotion to Lt. General. Was 

it political? Was Margaret Chase Smith-­

C: Let' a see. 1 've forgotten when my procotio!l-­

F: 'fhiS was just before Christmas of 1963. 

C: of l963. 

l"t Congressman Vinson also held [t up. 
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G: Yes, T recall now. That was connected with the change of my title 

which had been Special Assistant to the Chairma11-­

F: Now you were going to be deputy. 

G: It was going to be Deputy to the Chairman, and there was a misconcep­

tion there t hat this amounted to being deputy chairman in the sense of 

presiding over meetings in the absence of the Chairman. That was not 

the intent and was not in fact i n the proposal. But to resolve that 

part of the problem the shift of title was made simply to Assistant 

to the chairman so there would be no implication of presiding over 

officers who were many years and a full grade my senior. 

F: Was there any significant change in duties, really? 

G: Yes . I would say the duties had evolved in this direction; but it 

was made clear that in the absence of the Chairman, I would attend 

and give the view of the Chairman or the chairman's office so to speak. 

There was some question as to whether the Chairman had a view, an inde­

pendent view. But in fact that i ssue had been resolved when some 

language was taken out of the National Security Act. Previously it 

had said that the Chairman was a member of the Joint Chiefs of Staff 

but he had 110 vote. Those words "that he had no vote" were removed 

and that meant that he did have full substantive participation, and 

that meant that his views should be introduced. I think there was 

perhaps a little failure within Defense . The Defense legislative 

people were supposed to have discussed this with the people upon the 

ltill, and it later turned out t hat there had been a failure on their 

part to do so, so that it hit senior people cold up there. They 

reacted by putting it on ice until sometime after the fir s t of the 

year. I chink it was approved finally in late January of 1964. 

F: This is kind of a matter of just showing who had the right of confir­

mation then? 
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G: Oh yes, and they had concerns that had to be discussed. I regard it 

not onlv unfortunate but a little bit disresoectful, particularly to. . 

the Senate Arms Services Colllllittee not to have had some prior dis­

cussion on this matter. But, as 1 say, that was a slip-up here in 

the office of the legislative liaison people. 

F: This wasn't a White House oversight? 

G: No, no , it was right here in this building. 

F: A failure to couch base in other words. In the summer of 1964 then 

you get into this matter of the Tonkin Gulf attacks. Now then that 

has been hashed every which way and is going to be talked about a lot 

more. I think two questions that I need to ask you that I might not 

get elsewhere, that we would l i ke an opinion on. 

One i s, is there any real reason for Senator Fulbright having, 

in a sense, reversed his position on this. He supported it in 1964 

and now says he was gulled. 

G: 1 can't, of course, address this question from the standpoint of 

Senator Fulbright. But let me address it simply from our best infor­

mation and judgment here; and 1 can tell you that our best information 

and judgment here, with all of the uncertainties which we broke our 

necks to try to clarify and satisfy ourselves on, we were quite per­

suaded that these attacks had occurred. We had gone to considerable 

efforts to nail it down just as hard as we could. I think our judgment 

was as near a certainty as it's possible to be in circumstances of that 

kind, that these attacks had occurred. 

F: Could you testify, were you a witness to, the sort of evo lut ion of 

the President's thinking in chis? 

G: This would be very difficult for me-­

F: I suppose the news was broken to him out of the situation room rather 

than in there. 
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G: twas not in any direct chain of comnunicati.on to the President. I 

can only say that generally there had been deepening concern and spreading 

concern through the past nonths pr~or to thts cine over the situation 

that had heen developing ill Vlet lfom. But just try\ng to talk from 

memory would he very risky for me Ln this development. And I gather 

that. then are plenty oi documents available now that wlll-­

f: What did you do in general to try to verify the fact ot these attacks? 

G: We went back out to the COTT111B.nder-in-Chief, of the Pacific, who was 

i.n touch with th~ commanders in the area with repeated ceesages "Are 

we certain?" "What kind of evidence did you nave?" and so on. Some 

of it was radar tracks and the direction of closlng, that kind of 

thing. Sorcie of it reports of actual f irlng, supposed eye-witness 

reports, the kind of thing that you get in combat. You were con(ronted 

with a decision, "What do you do about this," within a short: period of 

time, and this was the best information that ..,a were able to develop. 

F: ln the testimony before the Senate, there wasn't a great deal of 

questioning. Weren't your attempts to verify pretty well accepted? 

C: 1 think they were at that ti.JDQ. Tha t certainly was my recollectlon of 

that period. 

F: In this matter of initiating bOlllbing attack.a on North Viet Nam, was 

there n real sort of divls!on of feeling on whether we should give all­

out attacks or do a kind of DCasured and gradual use of air power? 

C: Yea. 

F: And how did LBJ get mixed up in this? 

G: I'll have some difficulty in saying how much he was involved in tt 

because I was not a direct witness at that tit:ie. But l can say, and here 

I will not talk about matters internal co the Joint Chiefs of Staff, 

But ! can t a lk about tha raatcers on which the J~lnt Chiefs of Staff took 
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action as a body, which then went to higher echelons. 

There were these various uptions that were analyzed repeatedly 

over a period ,,f many months·-a year or more--prlor to the period of 

late-1964. One of them r recall had alternatives--and I thin'k this 

has been carried in the press--A, 8, and C, and the Chiefs cllJl'e 

fon.>ard wtth the alternative which happened to be the one I strongly 

supported of option "C-Prime." Instead of the notion of an incremen­

tal and a slowly increasing proqram, you would initiate your program with 

a heavy effort which would establish in a sense an outer parameter of 

how far you were prepared to go, and then apply heavy pressure within 

chat. 

These 1Dattcrs were tal'ked about within the Administration. The 

extent to which they actually got before the President, 1 can't testify 

to. I was not present in chose meetings. But l think we do know that 

no affirra.ativ~ decision was taken through that period of months in 

lste-1964, when as you know, we wer<.! having reports irom the field 

that the situation was not only deteriorating but deteriorating very 

seriously, and the margin left there was becoming very, very thin. 

F: Did the Chinese explosion of a nuclear bomb in the fall of 1964 play 

any great role ln your decision in Viet Nam? 

G: Whenever that occurred I recall we gave that very close study, but it 

did not plav an significant role insofar as any actlvltlea of mine 

were concerned or anything I saw in relation to Viet Nrun. 

F: Did the Wh l to llouse, as far as you could te 11, show great alarm at 

this explos1011 of the Chinese nuclear bomb? 

C: 1 don't recall any-­

r: Something that was anticipated finally happened? 

G: I don't recall any alarm at tc. It was intensively studied, of course, 
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to see what its implications would be. It had been anticipated as a 

general proposition. 

F: How much did this gradual buildup in Viet Nam that came i.n 1965 affect 

the general condition of the United States' armed forces to wage war 

or defense i.n other parts of the world. You must have had a drain there. 

G: Oh, it drained it very heavily, and this took what I would call a 

phenomenal effort by the Army to generate the forces and get them out 

there to Viet Nam on the schedule that was maintained. As l mentioned, 

this was on a very narrow margin. I would say by the middle of 1965 

this situation was probably within weeks of being completely lost 

except for the intervention of the American forces. And once they 

were pushed in there, and combat forces were pushed Ln, it was 

necessary to try to build up a logistic base as the combat forces were 

themselves engaged. It was a tremendous effort; and I will say in 

terms of achievement, it was a tremendous achievement on the part of 

the Army, which bore the brunt of this, to do that despite the condi­

tions of shortage in many, many areas that existed at that time. 

F: Was there a great deal of concern on the part of the Pentagon leader­

ship as far as the other parts of the world were concerned that maybe-­

I think that General Abrams said at one time that except for Viet Nam 

we couldn't fight our way out of a paper bag. I don't know whether he 

said that publicly, but I've picked that up somewhere. 

G: The detrimental effect of this was certainly well recognized. Now, 

I've forgotten just when the Dominican operation occurred. 

F: the Dominican operation began in September of 1965. Actually it began 

somewhat before that; the crisis broke out earlier in the summer of 

1965. 

G: Yes. I thought it was in June, late May or June. I had some interest 
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in that. I was supposed to have gone to be the conrnander of the 18th 

Airborne Corps, but--and you might be interested in this, and this was 

by an intervention of President Johnson htmself, When this proposed 

reassignment was brought to his attention, he asked that it be changed 

and that I be kept on duty here 1.n the Pentagon. That change was just 

being made and General Rruce Palmer was put up to take that job in my 

stead. Just about the time I or he would have been taking over is 

when the Dominican thi.ng broke. And the 82nd Airborne Division was- ­

I tbi.nk it was the 82nd-- I should remember. lt was either the 82nd 

or the lOlst that was sent down there, and they performed well. They 

were part of a high-readiness force that was being ~1aintained at the 

time. I mention that because although we drew down heavily and 

quickly and reorganized forces and organized new forces and so on, a 

small component was retained Ln a ready state here in the United 

States. 

Now there was also a drawdown of logistic support for Europe within 

the United States. The impact was very heavy, but even so the forces 

in Europe would have given a very strong account of themselves in case 

there had been any conflict. And these forces performed, l would say, 

quite excellently in the Dominican Republic, 

F: 	 Incidentally, I was on a seven months ' assignment in Chi l e at this 

time and many people would stop me and say, "Now, naturally we've got 

to make a public demonstration against you but privately we're very 

much for what you're doing." 

G: 	 Yes, we've heard a certain amount of chat relating to Viet Nam as well 

around the world. 

F: 	 Did you get the feeling that President Johnson was on top of the 

military situation ln these various crises that were arising or that 

he was pretty well leaning on Secretary McNamar a, or on the JCS? 
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G: 	 If I could pursue the Oo~inican ~epublic affair, he was ll'l!lediatcly 

drawn into that and took a very active and vigorous stand and took 

action to head off an)' gradual deterioration or worsening of the 

situation. Re called on Lhe military to accomplish that part of it 

and called on his State Department foreign pollcy people to support 

the case of the UnHoJ States on the political side. And atthoush 

there has been criticism 0£ the Dominican Affair, in fact, given 

the premises on which he was operating, Lt was very effectively and 

qu~ckly conducted. 

I had one little role in that in making it quickly effective. It 

was obviously advantageous to seal off the city, the area where the 

Main focus of rebellion had occurred, and it was possible to do that 

by establishing a tine of conrnunications from our forces- -wherc they 

were located--to Lhe Port area. And by establishtng that llne of 

cof!l!IUnications that effectively sealed off the inner city and broke 

any contact between the lnner-city and the country side. So it was 

then just a ~.itter of tli!ie and aearching for some kind of an accep­

table political solutlon to which both sides could be brought to agree. 

F: 	 In the India- Pakistan War that broke out also in 1965, you had this 

problem that the Pres idcnt had really gotten on a pre tty Urm personal 

relationship with President Ayub Khan, and then you get the Paklstanis 

holding hands with the Chi nesa Conmunists. Was there a great deal of 

concern at the Whltc House level on this turn that evente had taken, 

and a certain sense of pertidy on Ayu!> Khan's part? 

G: 	 I never heard that lmplicatlon at all. I don't know in detail--! 

can't recall the details oi this sufficiently co say very much about 

It, but I never heard any imputation of perfidy to Ayub Kahn. Instead 

there was extreme and acute distress at the position in which the 
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Unlted States found itself caui;ht--h,:,tween India, ·•c1ich the l"nite<l 

States had been tryin'! to supp'1rt and where they had been trying to 

enhan<!e the developa.nt .,f India, and on the other slde Pakistan, 

whose performance had been that of a friend of the United States over 

many years . 

~: In this case supporting botl1 sides, 

G: Yes, it was more of an Lssuc of that kind, as I recall. 

F: Did vou get to observe the role of che President, or J'lOre the attltude 

of the President toward the ouster of Sukarno in Indonesia? 

C: Ko, these attitudes were ex post facto when the atce~ptcd coup was 

1'18de and failed. Then Suh.\rto cook over and acted pretty much on his 

own, and the Indonesian military which had been attacked responded as 

they did. 

P: You ' ve s pent your share of Cline in VLe t Nam and in Washington a nd 

elsewhere . Do you hold to the thesis that perhaps one reason that they 

could move so efficiently in [ndoneaia and put down che Co11111unl9ta was 

because you did have U.S . presence ln Viet Nam? Do you get a feeling 

chat aside froc Viet Nam involvcl!lent, which is something else indeed, 

that we have brought a major stability to the Far East and South Ease 

Asia because they feel they don ' t have to worry about one great pro­

blem? 

C: I ' ve seen this t hesis, and I would say in my own judgment that had the 

United States not stood against Indochina, the Indonesinn situation 

would ha\~ gone completely bad Moch earlier. And it would not and 

could not have ~een retrieved. 

F: How did you get che Koreans to take such an active part ln \'let )lam? 

C: Well-­

F: Did you have a quid pro quo there? 
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G: Yes. The details of that others would have to testify on, but there 

was an effort--this was one of the efforts of President Johnson to get 

additional flags to join in. He had, I think, Clark Clifford and 

General Taylor go around and make these propositions in the various 

countries. I know there was hard negotiating, after there was 

acceptance in principle to negotiate, to reach agreement as to just 

what the terms of that participation would be. 

F: Did you find the Koreans really to be as good soldiers as the press 

has portrayed them to be? 

G: Here I'll limit my comment a bit. But let me say that their units 

were extremely effective military units. Their company commanders were 

excellent; their whole command chain well trained, tough, highly pro­

fessional, quite excellent in their military performance. I will not 

undertake to discuss this in detail because it takes me I think a 

little further afield than I want to go . 

F: When l edit this, I may want to edit a little portion right here . 

G: Right. 

F: You had an involvement in an intensifying degree with Viet Nam since 

the mid-Eisenhower days. Did you get the feeling that the French had 

done nothing to build up the South Vietnamese insofar as leadership 

was concerned? I'm thinking not only of political leadership but also 

military leadership. ln other words, you started with them in the mid­

1950's just about where you would have, say, in about 1960. 

G: Well., as to what the intent of the French was, I'm not a good witness 

on that. As to what the achievement-­

F: We're dealing with actualities here. 
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G: the actuality--on that I would say only vet"y limited progress had been 

made until the mid and late 19SO's to build up any kind of indigenous 

leadership. 1 know that this was a major area of effort by the Amel"ican 

advlsers when they went out there. This kind of thing builds up very, 

very slowly, and the base simpl y did not exist. The French had not in 

the past developed leaders above the level of sergeant, and many of 

the present leaders of the South Vietnamese forces were in fact 

sergeants during the French period. It takes a long time to build up a 

body of leadership. 

F: And particularly someone who can plot the grand strategy of affairs, 

tactics. 

G: That is right. 

F: Did you get to observe the President in the Arab-lsraeli war? 

G: No, by that time I had been out of action for a bit. In the beginning 

of the fall of 1966--just a personal note, I had a heart attack in 

November of 1966, and it was on l y in the spring of 1967 that I began 

to get back into duty. 1 had an assignment in the U. N. as Army :1ember 

of the ~iilitary Staff Commictee so that I stayed in some contact with 

the Arab-Israeli situation np there. That was an extra duty . "!y main station 

was here in Washington . But l was not directly involved, since I'd 

left the office of the Joint Chiefs, in the overall handling of that 

affair . 

F: Befot"e that, in the surrrner of 1966, President Johnson sent you and Walt 

Rostow and Averell Harriman to brief the governors--had you down to the 

Ranch beforehand. Would you like to tell about how he handled that as 

far as instructions were concerned and what it was, in a sense, you were 

trying to get over. 

G: He wanted us to go out there and simply give the best perception chat 
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~e could of the Vietnamese devel opment--the miliLary and security 

situation there. As I recall, one comment that was made was that I should 

not overdracati;r:e the situation. 1 recall the response of Aver ell liorr iman , 

•Jho:n t have worked with for many years, to whoever 1L was that made that 

comment, that he "didn't really think they had to fear that." But we 

met with the President do\ltl st the Ranch, and 1 reviewed the essentials 

of how I would describe the military situation, how fa r we had come, how 

much more remained to be done. Roscow and Harriman covered their part, 

which would tell a bit about the paclfic3tion--the efforts to institute 

a pacification program--dnd some of the efforts to try to find a political 

solution to this thing. ~e then went out and gave it, not in the sense of 

salesmanship, but simply trying to present the situation. 

I recall chat I brought out chat in a aituation of this kind where 

you're just starting at a point very close to a collapse of the country-­

a col lapse of resiscance--and a victory for the other side, in a situation 

where the enemy have dug themselves in in all the villages and throughout 

the country, that lt's going to be a long and costly and difficult 

program to work them out of this . And much of that would be dependent 

upon Lhe South Vietnamese themselves because there were certain things 

outsiders simply could not do . But the role the United States was caking 

at least gave the breath ing space for that operation co go forward. 

F: 	 How did the governors react to you? 

G: 	 A number or th~m expressed considerable appreciation for it; a number 

of chem, l thlnk, made clear that they w\lt:e not taking any public 

poaitian themselves, t hat they woul d reserve their judginent in the matter . 
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? : Back on the Ranch, in a situation like this, did the President have 

certain working hours, ur did you \ust sit around in the fr~nt yard and 

talk? how did he handle this~ 

C: We flew uut there--I ' ve forgotL~n the time of day out I think we got 

thcre--ves, [ t in· we did get there before lunch and he drove us 

nround the Ranch and pointed out Lhe deer and Lalked to his foreman 

and took us around in his big car. Then we came: back and had lunch 

and talked all ~f this over and flew on out to California. 

F: You flew on out that Siii"<! day. 

C: That sane day, that 's right . 

F: So it was reallv in a eeruJe a whirlwind, except that he did give you 

adequate t il!IC you fel c. 

G: That's rtghc. 

F: How did you happen to go to the Paris Peace talks? 

C: "" had asked that I do that, and :ind set up the d.!ler,ation man by man in 

'ace, and had worked out exactly ho" he wanted tbts thing to go for­

ward. By that Lime 1 was over as Comnandant at the ~ational Yar 

College, l should perhaps take a minute to say that from about late­

1964 on, at his request, l met with General Eiaenho.,,er about every two 

nonchs-­

r: You were the liaison. 

G: To bri~& hiD up on the conduct of the var, and to let him know what 

was on the President ' s mind, and then bTlng back and dtscuss with the 

President any ob~ervaclons chat General Eisenhower might have on tht> 

wur. Those meetings arc recorded in memos of which ! furnished a cop)' 

to President Johnson and a copy to President Eisenhower. That process 

was one by which President Johnson formed hls view and assured hlmselt 

and gave himself confidence, 1 think, as to the operations that he Yas 
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uttdertaking. President Eisenhower, as you know, fe Lt that it was the 

duty of all to rally to the support of their President, and he certainly 

undertook to do that. 

Re would glve his views on the various aspects on the conduct of 

the war, but he always made very clear that th ls was not given in the 

sense of pressure ~ut ln the sense of whatever value his advice night 

have to Pres ldcmt JohMon. So that perhaps was part of the background 

of his askittg me to go out to California in 19&6. I had also been 

;;eked to head up here in the Defense oeparcment, as an extra duty frolJl 

my work over at the Wnr College, a study in late-1967 and early-1968, 

on the possibilities of a cessation of the bombing. President Johnson 

knew that I had been through that issue repeatedly--the bombln~ halt 

et the end of 1965, and again certain ones at lacer times so that when 

he wanted to set up his delegation and to have 8 kind of a balanced 

conposicion, he asked me to participate in that. rhen he gave us our 

direction, and we mec with him to be sure chat we had an understanding 

of what our policy positions would be. 

F: llow long did you talk to hll:I? 

G: On this partlcular meeting with che President, which our whole delega­

tion attended, I would say that we had a meeting of a couple of hours 

to explore this pretty thoroughly. Then ~-e nee with him perhaps once 

or l:'.llce again during the course of that negociaclon. I only stayed 

until late-June and then I went out lo take my n•signment in Viet )lam. 

F: ~"" there's al1'10st continuous col'lllllnlcation !n a case like this 

between the White House and Paris, and yet you get Cyrus Vance ond 

Averell Hanlmo.n coming home with great regularity. ts there some­

thing thac can be accomplished man-to­ man that-­

G: Oh yes, you 111\l8t periodically just come back and review the whole 
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sit\lation and see what the possibilities are--convey a sensing of 

where the hard points are, where there might be something that could 

be probed, could be examined. 

F: Was President Eisenhower approachable until pretty near the end of his 

life? 

G: Oh yes, very much so. 

F: lle stayed alert to what was going on? 

G! I happened to be back from Viet Nam in early-1969 and he knew, of 

course, he was party to my forth coming assignment in Europe. I 

called on him twice and discussed the NATO undertaking with him twice 

in the week before he died, the last time being the day before he died. 

He was quite alert and keen and strong in his comnents and bis interest 

in NATO. 

F: Did President Johnson ever cotmtent further on Eisenhower's statement 

at the end of his Presidency about warning about a military-industrial 

complex? 

G: Oh, he and I talked about that many times and some of what had been 

built on it. He was flagging here the existence of the tremendous 

concentration of power which under our system has to be carefully 

scrutinized and controlled . I think he continued to ho l d that view. 

1 would think that some of this business over the missile gap and the 

deliberate fostering of that notion-- in which I'll have to say people 

within the government and some within the military and many within 

industry had a joint role. I think this was very much on his mind as 

the kind of danger this poses to the United States. 

F: I ' ve seen Cyrus Vance at work, and I can see his effectiveness. Now 

my association with Averell Harriman has been perfunctory, and he has 

always been rather reserved, even to the point of reticence. Can he 

curn on when-­
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G: t think he's qulte an eHecti.ve negotiator, a great sense of key issues 

that might have some possibilities. 

F: Ke knows how to bore in. 

G: Yes. And great experience in matters of that kind. 

F: Dl.d you ever get co witness particularly the relationship between 

Secretary !'1cNamara and President Johnson of whi.ch a lot has beun con­

jectured and 1 t~lnk a lot of it is wrong. 

G: Not too much. My meetlngs with President Johnson were generally just 

the ci.io of us when I talked about the liaenhower relat .onship or one 

or two ocher matters in which he had me come Ln. But I seldom saw 

h lm and Secre cary Mc..-.mnara at the sacie c lme. 

F: In the Spring of 1967, co duck back just a minute, you were assigned 

to conduce a special study for the Army Chief of Staff. LBJ approved 

thac. Cen you cell us what kind of special study-­

G: That was really an interim assignment. They would not allow me to 

co::ie back actively to duty as Director of the Joint Staff after my 

heart actnck, and tbat was an lnterim asslgnement untlt cbe War 

College assigruoent came open. In that t sl.mply made a review of the 

whole s~udy ertort of the U.S. Army and initiated a broad study plan 

that would coordinate the major studies they had in mind. But it was 

really an interim assignement . 

F: Now, your leadership of the National War College really did not reoove 

you from White House performance!& of Che Prest.dent? 

C: l still had a number of duties working with him. 

F: You just took on another assi.gnement. 

G: That's rlghc. 

F: Why did you go co Viet Nam? 

C: Because he offered me the opportunity to conmand there--serve as deputy 
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corroander--and at that time the expectation was that I would succeed 

General Abrax;is when the tiroe c~ for him to come back. l suppose l 

would have except for bolng asked by ~r. Nixon to go over and take the 

NATO asslgnment. 

r: what was the reaction Ln the mtlitary when President Johnson made the 

March :li, 1968 address thac he would not run agaln. Oid you gel any 

feelings that--most parLicularly in Viet Narn--was there con$ternatlon? 

G: I happened to be away at thai tin~. r was caking a contingent of the 

National War College on an Airlcan trip and I got the word over In 

Africa . As soon as r got back here-­

F: You had no forewarning? 

C: t'tl come back co chat. As soon as I got back here I had word that he 

wonted to see me immediately. T come over and he told me that he had 

in mind for me to take t he deputy command out in Viet Nam nnd also do 

Lhis job for him over in Europe if Lhe negotiations were to be opened 

up there. 

On the other po~nt, a curious little point that £'11 want to keep 

very much in confidence. Late in 1967 President Eisen~ower, having sorie 

obvlous difficulty finding a way to ask me a question, asked me whether 

r had had any Lntlmatlon from Mr. Johnson that he might not run again. 

And I hod not. But co ask thaL question it really developed that Presi­

dent Eisenhower had co let me know that he bad had that question raised 

with him--some questions raised wlth him by President Johnson. Later 

I learned chat this had been to ask whether President Eisehower ielt 

that President Johnson would be doing less than his duty if he ~ectined 

to run again, and pointing out that no president who had succeeded a 

President who had died ln office had-­

(end of tape--tape turned ove r at this point) 
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No president who had succeeded a president who had died in office had 

run for more than one more full term. thi.s I found very revealing, but 

it was only that little bit of information that l had ahead of time 

that the President mlght have been thinking about this. 

F: As you will recall, it was almost a comic opera if it hadn' t been so 

serious, the situation regarding the opening of t he peace talks , al l 

chat table discussion and so forth, what was President Johnson ' s 

reaction to the troubles in getting the conference started? 

C: 1 was not here when we had that-­

F: But the period you were there it "'as st ill not easy. 

G: During the period we were there there were only two sets of people in the 

room, the North Vietnamese over across from us and all of us strung 

out on our side. It was only after the bombing halt and the attempt 

to get the broader negotiations going that this business of the table 

and all of that began to come out. And, at that time, although l was 

back here very briefly after Mr. Nixon 's election, from Viet Nam, I was 

not involved with the White House in any of that business. So I didn't 

have opportunity to see President Johnson's react ion to that. 

F: Was the situation when you got to Viet Nam in April, a feeling that 

perhaps peace could be managed or was there a feeling that this was so 

much election year window- dressing. 

G: No, I would say neither of those. There was some feeling that the war 

had in fact gone 01t far enough. Despite the appearance of the TET 

Offens ive a nd the May offensive in 1968, the war had in fact gone on 

far enough so that the allied side could afford to do this without en­

dangering their position. There was, I think, regret at the pressures 

that had been placed on President Johnson and say, the undercutting of 

his position that was evident both in public and even to a degree within 
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the government here. But that was well realized. He was suffering 

from those problems but was still trying to press on. 

When I went, I went with the clear understanding that our mode of 

operation would be what l had, in the earlier discussions before going 

to Paris, I clarified with him, that was that we would continue a policy 

of max illlllm sustained pressure, to complete the work that had been begun. 

And most of us felt that we could carry forward with the military 

side of this to something that would represent a very substantial 

success i n due course. In the meant ime, if something could be accom­

plished in Paris, so much the better, but, with the memory of the 

Korean negotiations, we wouldn't pin our hopes on anything very early. 

F: What was it like at the Paris peace conference? The feeling on the 

outside is one of utter frustration, and I can imagine what it must be 

like. 

G: I was there, of course, during the very early period when we were 

probing the other side to see whether there was any serious interest 

in negotiation. They were hardlinlng it. I was struck by the degree-­

they seemed to each have a little pack of three by five cards in which 

they had multiple quotations from many, many people in the United States 

and around the world-­

F: They had do11e their research. 

G: That they would quote back to us to show as support for their charges 

that it was an i llegal war, that the United States was the aggressor and 

so on and so on and so on. I think we all had the feeling that we had 

to go through a certai.n amount of this to see whether there would be 

finally be any readiness to negotiate on their side--and also a feeling 

that so long as they felt by holding on they could accomplish through 

political means what they couldn ' t accomplish on the battlefield, that 

they would in fact, hold on. 
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f: rs it a little bit like say watching water drop on a steel bulkhead 

for days and you feel that nothing ls happening, but you've got co 1\ave 

just a blind, almost simple, faith that somewhere in there a dent will 

appear? 

G: Well you don't lose much by trying this, and you can always envisage 

two general types of solution. One would be simply that the war 

would move out of South Viet Nam as it has very much, and that, de 

facto, a situation would be achieved that would represent substantial 

success. The other is that some kind of political acconrnodation could 

be made, and this was simply a means of keeping that option open. You 

put up with a certain amount of vituperation and just hard line state­

ments from the other side. But it doesn't cost you very 111Uch to do that, 

and if you do find some opportunities to negotiate then at least you've 

got a forum for it , 

F : You never get personal in this, or do you get the strong feeli.r.g of 

one man­ -

G: No, no, I don't think you have any personal fee ling there. The North 

Vietnamese were rather correct in their' manner--distant, tough­ - as 

you could expect, their arguments just a repetition of the same position 

over and over and over again. 

F: Did you ever meet them socially? 

G: Never met them outside of the context of the negotiation. We had some 

tea breaks-­

F: I thought somebody else 's embassy party. 

G: We had them at tea breaks. We met with them. 

F: That's hardly social, I gather. 

G: Not social, no. 

F: The thesis is advanced that South Viet Nam and our policy there really 
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is a continuation [rom ~isenhower through Kennedy right down to the 

Nixon days, and that all we have done is intensify kind of a logical 

culmination of a seed that was planted back there. 1lo you buy this 

thesis? 

G: I'd say that everything that exists in the world today is a produce of 

everything that has existed previously . But there were many forks along 

the road, and many points of decision, many new developments that 

have affected this. 

F: There ' s net any sort of inexorability in it. The President had to 

stop and take a choice here and there. 

C: I would find that the range of possibilities that existed at every 

stage were so wide that to say that this would be the particular out­

come, that this was inexorable--! would find that impossible co support. 

P: Did you--this ls sensitive , but let's try. Could the President work 

better--I'm talking about President Johnson now--better with some 

generals than others? We've got Taylor, Wheeler, Abrams , just to name 

a few. 

C: No, let me say that he was quite ready to work with the senior military 

people that l knew, had a regard for their military competettce, felt 

they were well selected. He a lways quoted Sam Rayburn who said, "If 

we start making che mili tary decisions, ! wonder why we pa i d to send them 

co West Point . " He was quite prepared to give full considera t ion and 

we i ght to the senior officers who came before hL'll . And I ' d say these 

senior officers have come to those posts through a sequence of selections 

and responsibilities and that means t hat they have a high degree of pro­

fessional integrity, a great sense of responsibility, dedication to the 

country and so on . So I think he found that he was able to communicate 

with them quite effectively . 
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F: 	 Washington Post, Newsweek and other publications have said that the 

senior adviser group on Viet Nam which includes Major General Dupuy and 

Mr. Carver, are to a certain extent responsible for the reversal of 

the U.S. policy in Viet Nam, the de- escalation because of the briefings 

that they gave the President, that helped him decide not to run for 

reelection and so on. 

What could possibly have been in those briefings that he didn't 

already know. Was there anything new ln it? 

G: 	 I don't think you set this up in quite the right way. The President 

called the Senior Advisory Group in to meet with him and to review with 

him the situation in Viet Nam after the TET offensive and when he had 

the problem within his own administration over the question of whether 

to send further reinforcements out to Viet Nam. This group came 

in, many of them who had not been following the war in detail and they 

had son~ briefings. I think that the perceptions that were put before 

them, I would be surprised if there was anything of a widely different 

or dramatically different nature. It's a long, tough proposition there, 

and I think that 's what was presented. Probably, in all candor, no one 

could say when it was going to end or what the ultimate cost would be 

or, in precise terms, what the ultimate outcome would be. The impact 

was on the senior advisory group, I believe . But to know--1 was not 

present--to know what that impact was and to know what their views, 

what bearing that had on the President's decision, is really very hard 

to fathom. Because I think he was very much affected by some of what 

was going on within his own Administration at the time . 

F: 	 Did the coming of Secretary Clifford, who replaced Secretary McNamara, 

make any great difference in the Department of Defense? Did be listen 

to a different group or was this just a matter of fresh trail? 
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G: l would flnd it difficult co try a cor.iparisoo of the two 111en or their 

methods. [ think that Secretary Clifford spent a great deal of ti.me 

wlth about th~ same senior clvl llnn people in the Department of Defense 

that had worked with Mr. McNamara, and I am referrlng to such people 

as Mr. Warncke, Mr. Enthoven, and Mr. Gouldiog--that particular group. 

The information l have is that be gave a great deal of tlme and atten­

tion to the views of this particular group who of course had been, I'm 

sure, conducting much the same tllacussions with Mr. McNrunara. 

F: When you got to Viet Nam did you ftnd that the TET of Consive had de­

lilOralized the South Vietnamese as much as -­

G: ~o. qulte the opposite. The South Victnai::iese had been stiffened and 

hardened. The only demorall~atlon of which I'm aware occurred right 

here i.n the United States. 

F: This has puzzled me. The North V{etnamese, Vlet Cong, pulled off the 

TET offensive. It was a greaL tnttial thrust and then le failed. They 

evidently had expected a general uprising of che people, and it didn't 

come off. But somehow or other lt turned iato a psychological defeat 

for us-­

G: Psychologlcal defeat for the Unlced States? 

1': Yes. 

G: \Jn irs home front. 

F: Yes. V~er~ ~id we lose it1 I've been curious cm this. You can rnak~ 

aa awfully 9trong-­

G: That's a broad subject. Let me' just say that the North Vietnamese and 

their Viet Cong allies there took tremendous l osses. Tho South Vietna­

mese gained tremendous confidence out of their performance. The Amertcan 

forces, [ thlnk, felt that they had met the situatlon very well. The 

same was true a~aln in May. 
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The impact on the United States home front was disastrous. Nothing 

uther than that can be said. The United States home front was badly de­

moralized. 1 think that the responsibility, when the time comes to 

assign primary responsibility for that, you would have to look to 

elements within the Administration who certalnly hold responsibility 

for providing an accurate perception of what was involved. They failed 

to get that across. 

In the Congress, I think there was a sensing that blood had been 

drawn on President Johnson perhaps somewhat in the way that a little 

blood was drawn on President Eisenhower at the time of the U-2. Then 

you'd have to also add that the n~dia through which this is purveyed to 

the American people provided again a perception that was quite different 

from the realities, or what seemed to be the realities in Viet Nam, 

through exaggeration, dramatization, and that kind of thing. 

When you put it all together the effective result of this was to 

destroy the composure of the American people and government at a very 

crucial time on an issue of very great importance. 

F: Were you involved in the Pueblo crisis? 

G: No, let's see-­

F: That came just before the TET Offensive. 

G: That came in January or February of 1968. 

I;': Right. 

G: 1 guess the only thing that I did there was get information on it and 

brief General Eisenhower on what was involved and what actions had been 

taken. 

F: You were in South Viet Nam at the time that the election was held for 

president in 1968? 

G: That's right. 
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F: And before that you had the complete bombing halt? 

G: Just a iew days before that. 

F: Was there a fee li.ng in South Viet Nam that this was a political deci-­

sion, or t hat it was a pres!.dentia l political decision-­

G: A great mixture of feelings about it . I think it was understood that 

President Johnson was very desirous of trying to arrange this. Also, 

there was a lot of respec t for President Johnson there and the burdens 

that he had been carrying--was indeed carrying. As you know there was 

an altercation between senior officials of the United States and the 

South Vietnamese--Mr. Harriman in particular--as to whether the South 

Vietnamese had been misled in what the terms of the agreement would be 

in respect of them. There was some feeling in the United States I 

understand--this is second-hand--that people in Viet Nam had been coun­

seled on this and not go along with it because there could be a change 

of administrations coming out of the elections. 

ln any case, by that time we'd come to the judgment-- and I was 

acting in command at the time because General Abrams was right back 

here--we'd come to the conclusion that we could accommodate this, that 

the situation of our military operations had gone far enough so that 

this would not have any damage to us that we couldn't manage quite 

well. We were going i.nto really the deepest part of the rai11y season, 

and we were quite prepared out there to see it happen. But it was al­

ways on the understanding that suitable terms would be reached under 

one formula or another. It was only when the argument developed over 

whether suitable terms had in fact been reached that the t hing broke 

down. 

F: As the number one-number cwo man in Viet Nam, did you have some sort of 

quasi-ambassadoria l functions, or could you stick pretty well to what 

you were sent there for. 
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G: Oh no, my main function was s trictly military. I spent at least three 

days every week away from Saigon, going around throughout the country 

[to] all of the military units of every kind. I did however take the 

responsibility for General Abrams of acting for him with the Embassy in 

evaluating these various proposals that were constantly coming in for 

how we might enter into negotiations, the terms and so on and so on. 

F: I'd like to ask you two quick ones and sign off. One is, does this 

political infighting between Fresi.dent Thieu and Vice President Ky 

hamper the military effort? 

G: While I was there it did not hamper the military effort because we had 

good consul tations with them. Ambassador Bunker had very l ittle time 

for any foolishness of the kind that you suggest here. The same was 

true of Abrams and of me. And-­

F: A pretty strong team t hen on our part? 

G: Yes . We took a very strong stand that we had serious business to attend 

to and no time for this kind of thing. And Thieu himself was very 

active at t he pacification level. It was his pacification plan in fact 

which [was] worked out with Komer, but Thieu was the roan who put the 

real push into that late in 1968. That's what finally broke the back 

of the enemy forces. 

F: I had several interviews with Korner on that. That's pretty well set 

up . 

Did you get to witness Johnson 's relationship with De Gaulle, par­

ticularly with the deterioration of the French attitude toward NATO. 

Or is that a subject for another talk? 

G: I observed all of this of course, l don't know of any very great personal 

participation of Johnson in this. tt was really a confrontation be­

tween his administration a11d what De Gaulle was trying to do. But I 

don't believe President Johnson was personally drawn into chat to any 
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47 ·­· · · very great extent. There was the"·little busfoess of the visits a nd so 

on, but I think lt was small change in relation to the main, really, 

clash over policy. 
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C~ Y.:NERAL SI::RVICI•:S /\DMINlSTRATION 


NATIONAL ARCllIVES AND RECORDS SER\ rcr: 


Gift of Personal StaknlL'nt 

lo the 

Lynclon Baines Juhnson Libr•ny 

Tn accordance with Sec . 507 of the Federal Properly and Adrninis­
trative S<.~rvices Act o f 1949 , as am1..·nch.:d (44 U. S. C . 397) and regulations 
issued lher<.:undcr (41 CFR 101-10), I, Andrew J . Goo<lpastcr , hereinafter 
referred lo as the do'lor, hereby give, donate, and convey lo the Unitl!d 
States of America for eventual deposit in the proposed Lyndon Baines 
Johnson Library, and for aclrninistration therein by the authorities thereof , 
a tape and transcript o! a personal statement approved by me and p1·cpared 
for the purpose o! deposit in the Lyndon Baines Johnson Library. fhe gift 
o! this material is rnade subject to the following terms and conditions: 

l. Title to the material transferred hereunder will pass to the 
United States as of the date of the delivery of 1.his material into the physical 
custody o! the Archivist of the United States . 

, 
2 . It is the donor ' s wish to make the material donated to the 

United Stales of America by lhe terms of the instrument available for 
research in the Lyndon Baines .Johnson Library. At the same tiine, it 
is his wish to guard against the possibility of its contents b1•ing used lo 
embarrass, dan1age, injure, or harass anyone . Therefore , in pursuance 
of this objective , and in accordance with the provisions o! Sec . 507 (f) (3) 
of the Federal Property and Administrative Services Act of 1949, as 
amended (44 U. S . C . 397) this material shall not, for a period of 5 years 
or until the donor's prior death, be available for examination by anyone 
except persons who have received my express writ.ten authorization to 
examine it. This restriction shall not apply to e1nployees and officers of 
the General Services Administration (including the National Archives and 
Records Service and the Lyndon Baines .Johnson Library) engaged in 
performing normal archival work processes . 

3. A revision of this stipulation governing access to the material 
for research may be entered into between the donor and the Archivist of 
the United States, or his designee , if it appears desirable. 
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4. The material cJonalcd lo lhc United Stales pursuant lo the 
foreguing :;h;lll be kept in1acl pcnnanently in the Lynrlon Baines Johnson 
Library. 

' . 
The <lonor rdains to himself during his lifetime all literary property 
rights in lhc m<.tlerial don<\lcd to the United Slates ,,[ America by the 
ll!rms of this instrument. Aftc r the death of the donor • the aforesaid 
literary property rights will pa:;s lo the United States of America. 

Signed~~~~". 
Date 2-7 /,·4_/f 7.$_ 

Ac.ccpted ;\ (l. (A.;'..:.l n, l·v1I\' ~jt>v,. - {-+ "' 
Archivist ''of the United Staks 

March 10, 1975Date 
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